EXCURSIONS 1987

Report and notes on some findings

25 April. Clive Paine and Philip Aitkens

Eye

Church of St Peter and St Paul was inspected by members following A.G.M. held there by kind permission of vicar, Rev. R.H. Smith. Local wills show bequests to tower, 1453–79, including twelve cart loads of flints, 1465; mention of ‘new tower’, 1470 and ‘making of the tower’, 1479. Note in Book ‘Z’ of Eye Town Books records tower built 1470. Churchwardens raised over £40 by ‘the plowgh, partly in churchales, partly in legacies given that way, but chiefly by the frank & devowte hartes of the people’. Both tower and S. porch have arms of John de la Pole, Duke of Suffolk (d. 1493).

Apart from high altar, there were other altars to St Mary, St Thomas and St Mary ‘de Populo’. This last was to be built in churchyard c. 1501, and may be present N. chancel chapel. At least four images mentioned in wills – St Paul, St John, St Ann and St Saviour. Magnificent rood screen, with loft and rood of 1925 by Ninian Comper, reputedly came from Priory at Great Massingham, Norfolk. However, written ‘tradition’ dates from 1922 when Mary Short wrote her Historical Reminiscences of Eye.

Great Massingham Priory dissolved 1475, when monks joined those at Westacre. Possible that Eye then acquired redundant screen – there is unexplained extra bay on N. side as it now stands at Eye. One piece of dating evidence is inscription, on one of vaults, ‘Pray for John Gold’; frustrating that no wills have survived for any member of that family at Eye or Massingham. What we do know for certain is that bequests 1504–16 show ‘new candlebeam’ being painted and gilded. At Reformation, beam painted with text from St Matthew, taken from Cranmer’s Bible of 1540.

Evangelical leanings of Sir Edward Kerrison and restoration committee nearly resulted in removal of screen, 1868 – suggestion that rood beam be removed and screen dismantled and re-set in arch on N. side of chancel. Only strong appeals by architect James Collin saved screen; beam however did not survive.

Collin also employed to design Eye National Schools, 1871, to restore Guildhall for use as Grammar School, 1879, and to design Kerrison Memorial in market place, 1886.

Eye Priory. Founded by Robert Malet, lord of manor of Eye, between 1071 and 1102. Cell of Benedictine monastery of Bernay, Normandy. As an alien priory until 1385, Prior appointed by Abbot of Bernay, and in time of war with France, income was sequestrated to Crown. Although well endowed, frequent sequestration and large number of corrodaries meant that house was frequently impoverished and never grew to any importance.

During Hundred Years’ War, income fell from £160 in 1337 to £20 in 1379. In latter year church, cloister, refectory, and all buildings and chancels belonging to priory, described as ‘feeble and ruinous, and cannot properly and wholly be repaired for 1,000 marks’. Debts forgiven on petition of Queen, 1385, and priory made denizen by Richard II. Petition recorded that ‘certain persons at great expense intend of their alms to relieve and repair the priory’.

Priory suppressed, February 1537, when site acquired by lord of manor of Eye, Charles Duke of Suffolk, husband of Mary Tudor, Queen of France. Inventory of contents of priory and church shows foundation in very impoverished state. Many items described as ‘old’
and ‘lytell’ or ‘nothyng worth’. Excavation, 1926, revealed that church and claustral buildings were exact replica of mother house at Bernay.

Surviving buildings. Building called Abbey Farm is tall 17th-century farmhouse, faced with red brick, built into original W. front of Priory Church. Timber-framed rear wing was part of Prior’s Lodging; a S.-facing traceried window still survives within later house. Rebuilding of Prior’s Lodging no doubt dates from after 1385 when repair and restoration were promised by ‘certain persons’.

Imposing red brick building of c. 1500 (Plate XX) to N.W. of Abbey Farm has been described both as chapel and guest house. Originally two-storeys with fine arched windows to W. and superior chamber behind S. gable. No evidence for theory either of chapel so near Priory Church, or of guest house so much grander than Prior’s Lodging. May have been residence of steward of manor of Eye, and perhaps of Charles Brandon on his frequent visits to Eye Priory.

13 June. Sylvia Colman, Mike Hardy, Edward Martin, John Ridgard and Stanley West
South Elmham Hall and Minster
Members spent day looking at two of most important sites in area, by kind permission of Mr and Mrs John Sanderson. Display of recent fieldwalking results mounted by Mike Hardy; Hall gave context to day’s study. His work has shown presence of a Middle Saxon site near Hall which could be site of original minster church of Bishops of East Anglia.

South Elmham Hall (Pl. XXI) lies within large quadrangular moat (?13th-century) of about 3 acres. Most is in South Elmham St Cross parish, except for S.E. quarter in South Elmham St Margaret. Present entrance by causeway – middle of E. side, aligned on parish boundary. May also have been a bridged entrance in middle of N. side – a depression leads from this point along long axis of moat towards Hall. At right angles to this approach are remains of massive flint wall (now re-used in some farm buildings on E. side of site) which cuts moated area in half and aligns with ruined building on W. side. This has been described as a chapel, but no structural evidence for this. In fact it is attached to some sort of gatehouse for a bridge across middle of western arm of moat, probably leading to deer-park.

Situated near possible site of late 7th-century Minster, Hall could itself have housed a small religious cell in early 12th century (cloisters, register-house). Developed in 13th and 14th centuries into important rural residence of Bishops of Norwich, with two deer-parks, gardens, arbours (including Kynggeserber, possibly created in connection with a royal visit). Licence given, 1387, to Bishop Henry Despenser to crenellate his manor at South Elmham, but walls linking key buildings mentioned earlier. Numerous offices and buildings (chapel, welthous, granary, hospice steward’s chamber) in both outer and inner courts, approached bridge with gatehouse (solar over). Rooms inside Hall itself included oratory, lord’s chamber, chamber of steward of Liberty of South Elmham, penthouse, garrets. In gardens: stew-ponds, tile kiln, vines, nettles. Reference (1465–66) to red-lead, oil and ochre bought for lord’s chamber may assist in dating wall decorations inside Hall.

Members given opportunity to see interior of L-shaped Hall, recently stripped down prior to restoration. N.–S. range, mainly built in rubble flint, difficult to date, although undoubtedly contains oldest part of house. Remains of large apartment on two floors, upper probably a first-floor hall. Base of three-light stone-mullioned window survives high up in N. gable wall; clear that walls originally higher. To each side of this window are traces of early 14th-century wall-painting with flowing design in red ochre; bands of similar, but more ornate, pattern on walls of upper room. More of these uncovered since our visit. Also
within this range are several 13th- and 14th-century doorways, all apparently resited; two linked doorways on upper floor, with weathered surfaces, have since been found to be of moulded brick, not stone. E.–W. range, built in combination of brick and timber-framing, dates from later 16th century, when N.–S. range also refurbished and re-roofed, using unusual variant of queen-post structure. All 16th-century work evidently undertaken after manor granted to Edward North (later Lord North), 1540. Manor subsequently granted to Tasburgh family.

South Elmham Minster (Pl. XXII). This enigmatic ruin within rectangular earthen enclosure lies about a third of a mile to S. of Hall, close to a stream. Subject of recent article by John Ridgard (Proceedings, xxxvi, 196–201). Precise details of origin and use remain obscure – not in religious use in high Middle Ages. It stood outside deer-parks, just to E. of Greshaw Green. Enclosure may originally have been three-sided. Occasional clearances of undergrowth connected with acquisition of fuel for firing tile-kiln(s) recorded in medieval documents. Recent excavations (see Proceedings, xxxii, 1–16 and xxxvi, 52) have failed to provide precise dating for ruin or to reveal much in way of human occupation within enclosure. In light of this, doubt must be cast on Edmund Gillingwater's (c. 1735–1813) description of burial urns and ashes found within enclosure. Most likely explanation is a short-lived late 11th/early 12th-century monastic cell.

4 July. Tony Gregory and John Wymer
Thetford and Weeting, Norfolk
Thetford, Castle. Forty-six members gathered in brilliant sunshine on Castle Meadow at 10.30 a.m., by spectacular defensive earthworks and vast motte. Tony Gregory summarised sparse historical evidence. Not royal castle, so presumably constructed by Earl who, according to Domesday Survey, held one third of land N. of river – Roger Bigod or possibly Ralph Guader before his revolt crushed in 1075. Pipe Roll 1172–73 records destruction of a castle at Thetford; may refer to Red Castle across river. Bivallate ramparts and ditches contain motte and bailey in broad arc across meander of Thet. Continued to marshy flood plain or completed circuit along Market Street. Recent excavation suggests former. Motte is largest earthwork in East Anglia, 25m high. Depression at top. No evidence for shell keep or masonry structure except fragments of burnt oolite when investigated. Two Iron Age bone weaving combs found 1748 when section of rampart removed. Excavations 1962, R. Rainbird Clark; never fully published. Iron Age settlement within bailey. Concluded defensive earthworks constructed then. Norman modifications and enlargement. Fine view observed from top of motte. Ford of Icknield Way nearby.

Thetford, Priory of Our Lady of Thetford. Founded 1103–04 by Roger Bigod. Original twelve monks from Lewes Priory. Priory in town until 1114 when transferred to present site. Impressive ruins restored by H.B.M.C.. Lady Chapel added early 13th century. Stone image of Our Lady considered to confer miraculous powers of healing. Numerous pilgrims. Miraculous cures recorded (N.B., S.I.A.H. member Gilbert Burroughes attended excursion with stick as he had slipped a disc a few days previously. On emerging from Lady Chapel, felt click and disc restored to proper place. Stick discarded!) Gatehouse to N. of site, in private ground, superbly restored. Unusual flint and stone chequer work. Prior's Lodging standing to top of upper floor but roofless. Late Romanesque arches of Lodging actually reset in 14th-century structure after building of gatehouse.

Weeting, Grimes Graves. Over 350 depressions in backfilled mine shafts. History of investiga-

Day concluded with masterly demonstration by custodian, John Lord. Made large, elegant Neolithic-type axe-head from nodule of flint by hammerstone and antler flaking. Fire laboriously but successfully produced using sycamore rod in simple bow-drill on short plank, also sycamore, with burnt depressions bored into it. Fluff from Rose Bay Willowherb used as tinder. Members also tried their hand propelling wooden spears with Upper Palaeolithic-type spear-thrower while others in groups descended shaft of Pit 1, open to public. Radiating galleries at base with precious black 'floor stone' exposed.

30 July. Nesta Evans
Beccles and Halesworth
Beccles. For long the third most important town in Suffolk, Beccles in spite of modern development retains magnificent view across Waveney and many fine houses whose architecture indicates past prosperity. Georgian fronts of a number of buildings, particularly in Northgate and Ballygate, conceal earlier construction. Three houses visited:

St Peter's House, Old Market, standing on site of medieval chapel of that name, contains within it substantial flint wall rising almost full height of building, presumably survival of church. Front parlour has Queen Anne panelling; two larger rooms at rear in Strawberry Hill Gothic style dating from 1760s.

No. 23, New Market: in first floor room, handsome plaster ceiling dates from rebuilding after major fire in town, 1586. Arms of Elizabeth I, originally over fireplace in this room, now in Town Hall.

Old Rectory, Ballygate: only purely Georgian house in Beccles; did not become rectory until mid-19th century. Little known about its earlier history, but architectural evidence is that it was built in second quarter of 18th century. At rear, ironwork of Victorian verandah almost certainly came from Garretts of Leiston, as it is identical to some at Park House, Saxmundham.

Halesworth. Never as important as Beccles, but flourishing market town and centre of leather working in 17th and 18th centuries and fastest growing town in East Anglia between 1524 and 1674. Here two houses were visited, Gothic House and, in market place, building which houses Halesworth Social Club. In 18th and early 19th centuries, latter was Three Tuns Inn; Assemblies held there, perhaps in large room on first floor. Later in 19th century, brewery built at rear and inn declined into public house and three cottages. Many
similarities between two buildings, both built c. 1520–40. Same carpenter almost certainly employed in both houses, which have finely moulded beams and joists. Existence of two such high quality dwellings in town indicates its early Tudor prosperity.

River Blyth made navigable for keels and wherries sailing between Halesworth and Southwold Harbour under Act of 1757. Construction of Navigation and Halesworth Quay cost over £4,000 and included five locks, new cuts and river deepening. Rachel Lawrence took members through Angel yard, across old river to New Reach and site of Halesworth Quay and quay basin, pointing out two early malting establishments on way.

Patrick Stead in 1837 centred his malting enterprise at Halesworth and was dependent on Navigation (see Proc. Suffolk Inst. Archaeol., xxxvi, 115–29). Brickwork and oak posts of lock constructed to link Stead’s maltings in Quay Street with New Reach still survive. Small remnant of his second maltings built N. of quay basin also visited, as was 15 Quay Street where Stead lived and which he acquired from Dawson Turner and William Hooker c. 1821.

Two large late 19th-century maltings towering over railway station bear witness to eclipse of Navigation.

26 September. Peter Northeast and Timothy Easton
Earl Stonham, Debenham and Framsden
Theme of the day: examination of surviving evidence of ‘play’ activities in late medieval period in Debenham area.

Earl Stonham. Members met in church, where attention drawn to carvings in roof, carved stall ends in chancel and figures of Doom painting over chancel arch. Using projected slides, Timothy Easton put these features into theatrical context from which the craftsmen must have drawn their inspiration (for development of this theme see Timothy Easton’s article in Suffolk Review, N.S. 4 (1985), 14–24).

Debenham. After lunch, tour of town and greens, emphasising large number of surviving 15th-, 16th- and 17th-century public buildings, i.e. inns, guildhalls, market cross, toll house and shops. Two inns in particular, the Angel and the Buck, were seen to have controlled the two entrances to ‘camping close’, formerly town’s entertainment ground. At church, surviving timbers of conjectured Norman wooden bell-cage within tower examined.

Framsden. Members viewed adjacent play close and fairfield during visit to church.

Framsden Hall: most rewarding bonus came at end of long day when Hon. and Mrs Michael Tollemache allowed members to view carvings on walls and roof. Both these carved heads and those on Earl Stonham stall ends have origin in masks of charivari (see Suffolk Review, as above). Philip Aitkens joined Timothy Easton to emphasise structural affinity of both house and barn at Hall, indicating building date c. 1500. Recent examination has shown house to be of one build, which originally included single-hearth chimney positioned just off-centre in hall. This implies previously unrecorded type of hall plan, i.e. open hall with integral brick stack, exposed internally to apex of roof. Such a chimney would have been of elaborate and decorated form, like other surviving examples of period, painted surface matching internal face of brick nogging still to be seen in some of house walls at Framsden. This brick nogging a feature – an expensive one – of all walls of barn, largest of its type in
county; being built with house, implies an owner/builder of considerable affluence. (A full article on Framsden Hall is promised for a future issue of the Proceedings.)

Clive Paine,
Hon. Excursions Secretary

LECTURES

March 7 At Ipswich: 'Palimpsests, the Backs of Monumental Brasses', by John Page-Phillips, M.A., F.S.A.

March 21 At Bury St Edmunds: 'Monastic Sign Language at Bury St Edmunds Abbey', by David Sherlock, B.A., F.S.A.

October 10 At Ipswich: 'The Iveagh Manuscripts from Elveden', by Dr John Blatchly, M.A., F.S.A.

November 7 At Bury St Edmunds: 'The Haddenham Long Barrow: an Insight into the Burial Practices of the Earlier Neolithic', by Paul Shand, B.A.

MEMBERS ELECTED DURING 1987

During the year 35 members were elected and, after taking into account resignations and lapsed members, the membership now stands at 732, a net decrease of 1.

Arnott, Mrs K., Mill House, Witnesham, Ipswich.
Blow, J., 21 Queens Avenue, Woodbridge.
Bottomley, A.F., Eversley, Southwold.
Brewer, R., Heath Farm, Kenninghall, Norwich.
Canon, Dr J., Cross House, Ixworth, Bury St Edmunds.
Carver, Prof. M.O.H., Dept of Archaeology, Micklegate House, York.
Commichau, Dr G., The Old Bakery, Boxford.
Day, Dr and Mrs C., 15 Hilly Fields, Woodbridge.
Harrison, Mr and Mrs M., 1 Police Bungalows, Portal Avenue, Martlesham Heath.
Heap, Ms R., Mundy’s Farm, Mendham, Harleston, Norfolk.
Hitchcock, R.F., Clump Cottage, Westleton, Saxmundham.
Howe, Mr and Mrs T.O., ‘Howcroft’, Skinners Green, Metfield, Harleston.
Kilvert, Miss M.L., Manor Cottage, Saxtead, Woodbridge.
Mackley, A., 1 Angel Lane, Blythburgh, Halesworth.
Mander, Dr N., The Street, Earl Soham, Woodbridge.
Meggett, Mr and Mrs D.A., 1 The Greens, Aldeburgh.
Roper, Mrs S., Fir Cottage, Brettenham, Ipswich.
Sanderson, Mr and Mrs J.W., Hall Cottage, St Cross, Harleston, Norfolk.
Smith, Mr and Mrs T.E., Church Farm, Bradfield St Clare, Bury St Edmunds.
Strong, K.J., 1 Crofton Mews, Gainsborough Road, Sudbury.
Tacon, Miss J., 2 Church Terrace, Wenhaston, Halesworth.
Thorpe, Mr and Mrs A., Priory Farm, Preston, Sudbury.
Wesley, B.R., 47 Sebert Road, Bury St Edmunds.
Wood, Mr and Mrs F.J., 21 Sunningdale Drive, Felixstowe.
Wylde, Major and Dr J.A., Chapel Cottage, Wetherden, Stowmarket.

Haddon Library, Faculty of Archaeology and Anthropology, Downing Street, Cambridge.
SUFFOLK INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31st DECEMBER 1987

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1986</th>
<th>ACCUMULATED FUNDS</th>
<th>£</th>
<th>1987</th>
<th>CURRENT ASSETS</th>
<th>£</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Balance brought forward</td>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td>425.14</td>
<td>Cash at Bank</td>
<td>920.28</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5674.70</td>
<td>1st January 1987</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1266.21</td>
<td>Plus Surplus 1987</td>
<td>802.49</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td>Balance brought forward</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

For Accumulated Funds

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1986</th>
<th>£</th>
<th>1987</th>
<th>£</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Balance brought forward</td>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td>425.14</td>
<td>Cash at Bank</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5674.70</td>
<td>1st January 1987</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1266.21</td>
<td>Plus Surplus 1987</td>
<td>802.49</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td>Balance brought forward</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6940.91</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

For Current Assets

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1987</th>
<th>£</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>Investments</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>4151.16</td>
<td>General</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>3151.16</td>
<td>Deposit Account</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>National Savings Investment A/C</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5273.60</td>
<td>Mancrieff Ghanian&amp; Fund</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>Life Membership Fund</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

For Liabilities

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1987</th>
<th>£</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>90% Treasury Stock</td>
<td>1510.00</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5273.60</td>
<td>Life Membership Fund</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>Life Membership Fund</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>Life Membership Fund</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5273.60</td>
<td>Mancrieff Ghanian&amp; Fund</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1000.00</td>
<td>Life Membership Fund</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

For Note

84 copies (89 copies 1986) “Dame Alice de Bryene” in stock valued at cost £336 (£356.84 1986)

I have examined the books and accounts of the Suffolk Institute of Archaeology & History and in my opinion the Balance Sheet and Income and Expenditure Account give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Institute at 31st December 1987 and of the income and expenditure for the year ended on that date.

(F.G. SUTHERLAND, Honorary Treasurer; D.E. COLYER, A.F.A., S.A.T., Honorary Auditor.)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st DECEMBER 1987

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1986</th>
<th>EXPENDITURE</th>
<th>£</th>
<th>1987</th>
<th>INCOME</th>
<th>£</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Proceedings</td>
<td>4308.00</td>
<td>4300.02</td>
<td>Ordinary Members</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>602.30</td>
<td>Printing</td>
<td>20.00</td>
<td>250.00</td>
<td>Life Members</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>248.01</td>
<td>Postage</td>
<td>63.50</td>
<td>171.89</td>
<td>Tax Refund (Covenants)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>4272.31</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>5056.91</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Less</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Sales etc.</td>
<td>19.47</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Grant (Historic Bldgs Commission)</td>
<td>3.04</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>563.30</td>
<td></td>
<td>379.47</td>
<td>150.12</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>150.12</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>3909.01</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Newsletters</td>
<td>381.50</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>261.23</td>
<td>Including Postage etc.</td>
<td>20.00</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>189.23</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>87.30</td>
<td>Subscriptions</td>
<td>9.20</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>60.00</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>147.50</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>General Expenses</td>
<td>23.00</td>
<td>68.37</td>
<td>Research &amp; Excavation</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>17.95</td>
<td>Excursions (less receipts)</td>
<td>47.23</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5.85</td>
<td>Lecturers (less receipts)</td>
<td>37.45</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>77.03</td>
<td>Printing and Stationery</td>
<td>21.27</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>192.49</td>
<td>Office Expenses, Postage etc</td>
<td>62.40</td>
<td>60.50</td>
<td>'Dame Alice de Bryene'</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>59.90</td>
<td>Insurance</td>
<td>191.35</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>353.22</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6.00</td>
<td>Commission on purchase of Government Stock</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1266.21</td>
<td>Surplus of Income over Expenditure</td>
<td>802.49</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th></th>
<th></th>
<th>£5511.67</th>
<th>£5871.17</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>8507.11</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
PLATES
(a) 8th-9th-century lead weight with inset gilt-bronze head, from Ixworth (height 3.1cm). This object has Viking parallels. (b) Silver-gilt pendant made out of a coin of Sven Estridsson of Denmark (1047–74) (height 2.2cm). (c) Roman bronze figurine of Mercury, from Wickham Market (height 5cm).

Archaeology in Suffolk
Eye Priory Guesthouse, brick-built, c. 1500: west and south faces.

Eye Priory Guesthouse, brick-built, c. 1500: detail of west face.
Aerial view of South Elmham Hall within its quadrangular moat, from the north, 1986.

*Photo: Suffolk County Council Planning Department*
Aerial view of South Elmham Minster and the Hall, from the south, 1986.

*Photo: Suffolk County Council Planning Department.*
Membership. — Application forms for membership are obtainable from the Hon. Membership Secretary, Mrs H.A. Feldman, Ashranar, The Slade, Claydon, IP6 0EX. Present members are urged to support the Institute by enrolling new members.

Subscriptions. — The annual subscription is £8 for an ordinary member (or £7.50 if paid by banker’s order) due in advance on 1 January. The joint subscription for a husband and wife is £9.50 (or £9 by banker’s order). Students under 18 are entitled to pay at the student rate of £4.50 (or £4 by banker’s order). Subscriptions should be sent to the Hon. Financial Secretary, F. G. Sutherland, Ampners, Little Green, Thrandeston, Diss, Norfolk, IP21 4BX.

Privileges. — The annual subscription entitles members to a copy of the Institute’s journal, the Proceedings, which contains articles by national and local scholars on the archaeology and history of Suffolk. They will also receive the twice-yearly Newsletter, giving details of forthcoming events, short notes and book reviews. The Institute organises a number of excursions in the summer to places of interest in and around Suffolk. In the winter it has a programme of lectures, held alternately in Bury St Edmunds and Ipswich. Members may also use and borrow books from the Institute’s Library, housed in the Suffolk Record Office, Raingate Street, Bury St Edmunds. Finally, members who wish to take an active part in archaeological fieldwork may join the Institute’s Field Group, which has close links with the County Archaeological Unit and local museums. Enquiries respecting the Field Group should be addressed to the Hon. Field Group Secretary, M.J. Hardy, 15 Town Farm Close, Metfield, Harleston, Norfolk, IP20 OLH.

Publications. — Indexes of the articles in past volumes of the Proceedings are to be found in Volumes X (1900), XXIV (1948) and XXX (1966). The contents list of Proceedings 1848–1966 have been reprinted and are available at 15p post free from Mrs H.A. Feldman, Ashranar, The Slade, Claydon, IP6 0EX. Back-numbers of Proceedings and other publications are available from the above address, Vols. I–XXIII at £1, XXIV–XXXIII at £1.50, XXXIV–XXXVI at £3.50 per part, plus postage.

Articles and notes on all aspects of Suffolk archaeology and history should be sent to the Hon. Editor, David Allen, 105 Tuddenham Ave., Ipswich, IP4 2HG, from whom copies of Notes for Contributors may be obtained. Items for inclusion in the Newsletter, published in March and September, should be sent to Edward Martin, Oak Tree Farm, Hitcham, Ipswich, IP7 7LS.

The cover illustration of the great gold buckle from the Sutton Hoo ship burial was produced by Geoffrey Moss and is published by courtesy of the Trustees of the British Museum.
# CONTENTS

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>A FOurteenth-Century Monastic Sign List from Bury St Edmunds Abbey, by David Sherlock and William Zajac</td>
<td>251</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Rising of 1381 in Suffolk: its Origins and Participants, by Christopher Dyer</td>
<td>274</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The Bellfounder's Indent at Bury St Edmunds, by Sally Badham and John Blatchly</td>
<td>288</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Newmarket in the Reign of Charles II, by Peter May</td>
<td>298</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Shorter Contribution:—</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Arms and armour in early sixteenth-century Suffolk: the military return for Babergh Hundred in 1522, by J. F. Pound</td>
<td>305</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeology in Suffolk 1987:—</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological finds</td>
<td>309</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Field surveys</td>
<td>313</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological excavations</td>
<td>317</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Business and Activities 1987</td>
<td>321</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
## CONTENTS

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td><strong>TWELFTH-CENTURY FLOOR- AND ROOF-TILES AT ORFORD CASTLE,</strong></td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by P. J. Drury and E. C. Norton</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>THE HERVEYS: THREE GENERATIONS OF TUDOR COURTIES,</strong></td>
<td>8</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by W. J. Tighe</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>WILLIAM WILLSON: FROM CLARE TO DONEGAL,</strong></td>
<td>16</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Marilyn Lewis</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>JAMES WILLIAMS 1798–1888: PROFILE OF A VICTORIAN SCULPTOR,</strong></td>
<td>21</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Cynthia Brown</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>SHORTER CONTRIBUTIONS:-</strong></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>A Bronze Age cremation burial from Westleton,</td>
<td>31</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Edward Martin and the late Calvin Wells</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>An Iron Age terret from Rushmere,</td>
<td>34</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Tony Gregory and Edward Martin</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>A Roman lead sealing from Burgh Castle,</td>
<td>36</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Martin Henig</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>A gold bracteate from Undley,</td>
<td>37</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Stanley West</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Ives parodied as Curiosus in 1771,</td>
<td>38</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by John Blatchly</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>The former gateway at Chilton Hall recorded by Isaac Johnson,</td>
<td>40</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by John Blatchly</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Sutton Hoo 1860,</td>
<td>41</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by Rosemary Hoppitt</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>ARCHEOLOGY IN SUFFOLK 1984:-</strong></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological finds</td>
<td>43</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological fieldwork</td>
<td>46</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Archaeological excavations</td>
<td>50</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>BUSINESS AND ACTIVITIES 1984</strong></td>
<td>55</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td><strong>THE EXCAVATIONS ON THE SITE OF ICKWORTH MANOR,</strong></td>
<td>65</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>by William Filmer-Sankey</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
THE REDUCED POPULATION AND WEALTH OF EARLY FIFTEENTH-CENTURY SUFFOLK,

by David Dymond and Roger Virgoe ........................................... 73

RECENT DISCOVERIES AT ST STEPHEN'S CHURCH, IPSWICH: THE WIMBILL CHANCEL AND THE
RUSH-ALVARD CHAPEL, by Diarmaid MacCulloch and John Blatchly ............ 101

AN EARLY NINETEENTH-CENTURY MALTING BUSINESS IN EAST SUFFOLK,

by Rachel Lawrence ................................................................. 115

REVIEW

A new edition of William Hervy's 1561 Visitation of Suffolk ..................... 130

SHORTER CONTRIBUTIONS:-

A Bronze Age multiple burial at Exning, by Edward Martin and C.B. Denston .................................................... 131

A bronze torc from Kenny Hill, by Colin F. Pendleton .......................... 135

ARCHAEOLOGY IN SUFFOLK 1985:-

Archaeological finds ...................................................................... 139
Archaeological fieldwork .................................................................. 145
Archaeological excavations ............................................................... 151

BUSINESS AND ACTIVITIES 1985 ....................................................... 159

THE EARLIEST SUFFOLK CHARTER, by Cyril Hart and Anthony Syme ........... 165

THE CONTRIBUTION OF HOXNE TO THE CULT OF ST EDMUND KING AND MARTYR IN THE
MIDDLE AGES AND LATER, by Margaret Carey Evans ............................ 182

REFERENCES TO SOUTH ELMHAM MINSTER IN THE MEDIEVAL ACCOUNT ROLLS OF SOUTH
ELMHAM MANOR, by John Ridgard .................................................. 196

THE CHURCH CHESTS AT ICKLINGHAM, SUFFOLK AND CHURCH BRAMPTON,
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE, by Jane Geddes and David Sherlock .................... 202
CAPTAIN RAPHE MARGERY, A SUFFOLK IRONSIDE, by Jean and Ray Lock ........ 207
SHORTER CONTRIBUTIONS:

Two Late Bronze Age penannular ring-ornaments from Mildenhall and Eriswell, by Colin Pendleton 219
Wall paintings at Elms Farm, Mendlesham, by Joseph Michel and David Park 221

ARCHAEOLOGY IN SUFFOLK 1986:

Archaeological finds 225
Field surveys 230
Archaeological excavations 236
BUSINESS AND ACTIVITIES 1986 241

A FOURTEENTH-CENTURY MONASTIC SIGN LIST FROM BURY ST EDMUNDS ABBEY, by David Sherlock and William Zajac 251

THE RISING OF 1381 IN SUFFOLK: ITS ORIGINS AND PARTICIPANTS, by Christopher Dyer 274

THE BELLFOUNDER'S INDENT AT BURY ST EDMUNDS, by Sally Badham and John Blatchly 288

NEWMARKET IN THE REIGN OF CHARLES II, by Peter May 298

SHORTER CONTRIBUTIONS:

Arms and armour in early sixteenth-century Suffolk: the military return for Babergh

Hundred in 1522, by J.F. Pound 305

ARCHAEOLOGY IN SUFFOLK 1987:

Archaeological finds 309
Field surveys 313
Archaeological excavations 317
BUSINESS AND ACTIVITIES 1987 321

INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI 333
### ILLUSTRATIONS IN THE TEXT

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Fig.</th>
<th>Description</th>
<th>Page</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>1</td>
<td><strong>Orford Castle, Floor Tile Designs</strong></td>
<td>2</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>2</td>
<td><strong>Westleton, Bronze Age Urn</strong></td>
<td>31</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>3</td>
<td><strong>Rushmere, Enamelled Bronze Terret</strong></td>
<td>34</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>4</td>
<td><strong>John Ives</strong></td>
<td>38</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5</td>
<td><strong>River Deben, Chart Showing Sutton Hoo</strong></td>
<td>42</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6</td>
<td><strong>Great Wratting, 9th–11th-Century Gold Rings</strong></td>
<td>46</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>7</td>
<td><strong>Hitcham, Probable Church Site</strong></td>
<td>51</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>8–11</td>
<td><strong>Ickworth Manor, Excavation Plans</strong></td>
<td>66f</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>12</td>
<td><strong>Suffolk, Parishes Having Fewer than Ten Households in 1428</strong></td>
<td>75</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>13</td>
<td><strong>Suffolk, Tax Reductions Granted in 1449</strong></td>
<td>77</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>14</td>
<td><strong>Suffolk, Parishes Not Mentioned as Small or Impoverished in 1428 and 1449</strong></td>
<td>82</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>15–20</td>
<td><strong>Ipswich, Plans and Elevations of St Stephen's Church, Wimbell Chancel and Rush-Alvard Chapel</strong></td>
<td>102f</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>21</td>
<td><strong>Ipswich, Carved Bressumer Beam (c. 1520) from Rush Messuage in Upper Brook Street</strong></td>
<td>111</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>22</td>
<td><strong>Ipswich, Modified Section of John Ogilby's Map, 1674</strong></td>
<td>112</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>23–24</td>
<td><strong>Halesworth, Stead's Maltings</strong></td>
<td>122–23</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>25</td>
<td><strong>Exning, Bronze Age Graves</strong></td>
<td>131</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>26</td>
<td><strong>Kenny Hill, Bronze Torc</strong></td>
<td>135</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>27</td>
<td><strong>Great Blakenham, Ixworth and Playford, Late Saxon Bronze Brooch, Medieval Bronze Harness Mount and Bronze Stud</strong></td>
<td>140</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>28</td>
<td><strong>Martlesham, Late Bronze Age Socketed Axe and Razor</strong></td>
<td>143</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>29–30</td>
<td><strong>South Elmham St Cross and St James, Archaeological Sites</strong></td>
<td>148f</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>31</td>
<td><strong>Leiston Abbey, Stone with Initial of Abbot Richard Dunmow</strong></td>
<td>152</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>32</td>
<td><strong>Stoke-by-Nayland, Saxon Endowment</strong></td>
<td>167</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>33</td>
<td><strong>Suffolk, Ramsey Abbey Estates and Early Endowment of Bury St Edmunds</strong></td>
<td>168</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>34</td>
<td><strong>Suffolk, Estates of Aethelflaed's Family</strong></td>
<td>170</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>35</td>
<td><strong>Chelsworth, Boundaries in a.d. 962</strong></td>
<td>178</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>36</td>
<td><strong>Hoxne, Map, 1842</strong></td>
<td>188</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>37</td>
<td><strong>Eriswell and Mildenhall, Penannular Ring-Ornaments</strong></td>
<td>219</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>38</td>
<td><strong>Bucklesham and Wetheringsett, Bronze Socketed Axes and Rare Arrow-Head</strong></td>
<td>226</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>39</td>
<td><strong>Charsfield, Chillesford and Wetheringsett, Roman Silvered Bronze Face and Bronze Votive Axes</strong></td>
<td>227</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Page</td>
<td>Title</td>
<td>Reference</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>------</td>
<td>----------------------------------------------------------------------</td>
<td>-----------</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>40</td>
<td>EASTON BAVENTS, 10TH–13TH-CENTURY OAK STEERING BOARD</td>
<td>227</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>41</td>
<td>SOUTH ELMHAM ST MARGARET, ALL SAINTS AND ST NICHOLAS, ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES</td>
<td>232</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>42</td>
<td>PRIEST IN VESTMENTS, c. 1360</td>
<td>265</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>43-44</td>
<td>BURY ST EDMUNDS, BRASS INDENTS IN ST JAMES’S CHURCH</td>
<td>289–90</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>45</td>
<td>BURY ST EDMUNDS, ST JAMES’S CHURCH, INTERIOR</td>
<td>292</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>46</td>
<td>DISTRIBUTION OF SUFFOLK SERIES BRASSES</td>
<td>293</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>47</td>
<td>AMPTON, BRASS TO JOHN COKET (ob. 1483) AND WIFE</td>
<td>294</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>48</td>
<td>BURY ST EDMUNDS, TRADE SHIELDS OF BELL FOUNDRY</td>
<td>295</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>49</td>
<td>IXWORTH, 9TH-CENTURY IRON SWORD</td>
<td>310</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>50</td>
<td>WICKHAM MARKET AND FRECKENHAM, MEDIEVAL BRONZE HARNESS STAND AND HERALDIC HARNESS PENDANT</td>
<td>312</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>51</td>
<td>SOUTH ELMHAM ST MICHAEL AND ST PETER, ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES</td>
<td>316</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>PLATES</td>
<td>Following page</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>-----------------------------------------------------------------------</td>
<td>----------------</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>I–III  ORFORD CASTLE, 12TH-CENTURY TILES AND COMPARISONS</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>IV, Va  BROME CHURCH, REREDOS</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Vb  CARDINAL WOLSEY</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VIa  BURGH CASTLE, ROMAN LEAD SEALING</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VIb  UNDELEY, SAXON GOLD BRACETEATE</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VII  CHILTON HALL, GATEWAY</td>
<td>64</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>VIIIa, b  HALESWORTH, MALTINGS</td>
<td>164</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>IXa, b  EXNING, BRONZE AGE GRAVES</td>
<td>164</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>X  CHELSWORTH, ANGLO-SAXON CHARTER, A.D. 962</td>
<td>250</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XI–XIV  ICKLINGHAM, CHURCH CHEST AND COMPARISONS</td>
<td>250</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XV–XVIII  MENDLESHAM, ELMS FARM, WALL PAINTINGS</td>
<td>250</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XIX  IXWORTH, 8TH–9TH-CENTURY WEIGHT; MILDENHALL, SILVER-GILT COIN PENDANT; WICKHAM MARKET, ROMAN FIGURINE OF MERCURY</td>
<td>332</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XXa, b  EYE PRIORY, GUESTHOUSE</td>
<td>332</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XXI  SOUTH ELMHAM HALL, AERIAL VIEW</td>
<td>332</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>XXII  SOUTH ELMHAM MINSTER AND HALL, AERIAL VIEW</td>
<td>332</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
# INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>A</th>
<th>Annesley, Brian, 10, 11</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Abbo of Fleury, 171, 182, 183, 184, 187</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Acton, 88</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Adair Collection, 196, 199</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Adair, Sir Robert, 196</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Adderbury (Oxon.), church chest, 203</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Admiralty, petitioned re Southwold Harbour, 125</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Aelfled, dau. of Ælfgar, 165, 169</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ælfgar, King's thegn, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ælfgar, of Essex, 165, 169</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ælfheah, Ealdorman of Wessex, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ælfhere, Ealdorman of Mercia, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ælfric, Bishop of Elmham, 183</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Æfwine, King's thegn, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ethelflæd of Damerham, 165, 169</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ethelred the Unready, 169</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ethelstan, Ealdorman of South East Mercia, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Æthelwine, Ealdorman of E. Anglia, 171, 175</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Æthelwold, Bishop of Winchester, 174, 176</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Æthelwold, Ealdorman of E. Anglia, 175, 179n</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>aisled barns, 243</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Akenham, 78, 83, 94</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alan, Count of Brittany, 76</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Albone, Edmund, 208, 209, 217</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Aldbourne, 96</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alderton, 96</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 43</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Aldham, 89</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Aldringham-cum-Thorpe, 98</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alnesbourn, 85, 96</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alpheton, 88</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 139</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alston, 97</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alvard family, 108, 109</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Anne (Wimhill, née Rivers), 101, 102, 108, 109, 110</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Thomas (d. 1504), 101, 102, 109, 110, 113n</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Thomas, jnr (d. 1535), 102, 103, 105, 108, 109, 110</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Amesbury (Wilts.), 36</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ampthor, 85, 89</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, church, Suffolk school brass, 290, 291, illus. 294</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Anglo-Danish hundreds, 199</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Anglo-Saxon cathedral, whereabouts of, 199</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Anglo-Saxon charters, 165</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Anglo-Saxon polychrome relief tiles, 3, 5</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

| B | Barningham, 89 |
| --- | Barritt, Mr farmer at Sutton Hoo, 41, 42 |
| Barrow, 78, 90 |
| —, finds, 139 |
| Barrowe, Maurice, 210, 212 |
| Barsham, 79, 85, 92 |
| —, finds, 139, 225 |
| Barton, Great, 80, 89 |
| —, finds, 139 |
| —, rebel tenants, 278 |
| Barton Mills, 88 |
| —, excavation of ring-ditch, 151 |
| Bateman, Bishop William, 197 |
| Battisford, 95 |
| —, St John's Manor House, 43 |
| Bawdsey, 96 |
| —, finds, 225 |
| —, rebels, 281 |
| Bayham, 95 |
| —, finds, 139, 225 |
| Bealings, Great, 96 |
| —, Darnsmes ware, 236 |
| —, excavations, 236 |
| Bectles, 79, 80, 98, 169 |
| —, corn merchant's, 115 |
| —, maltings at, 115, 116, 118 |
| —, maltings in Bridge Street, 115 |
| —, No. 23 New Market, 326 |
| —, Old Rectory, Ballygate, 326 |
| —, St Peter's House, Old Market, 326 |
| —, town visited, 326 |
| Bectles Port Act of 1831, 118 |
| Bedchamber, The, 8 |
| Bedfield, 91 |
| Bedford Abbey, 171 |
| Bedingfield, 91 |
| Bedingfield, Richard, maltster of Newmarket, 300, 301 |
| Belchamp Walter (Essex), church visited, 60 |
| bellfounder, brass indent at Bury St Edmunds, 288–97, illus. 289, 290 |
| Belstead, Great, 78, 84, 94 |
| Belstead, Little, 94 |
| Belton, 93 |
| Benacre, 92, 98, 99n |
| —, finds, 139 |
| Benedictine Order, reformation in England, 165 |
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

Bunbury family, 80
Bungay, 76, 79, 92, 198
—, Gurney’s Bank at, 118
—, maltings at, 116
Burns, 88
Burgh, 93
Burgh Castle, 39, 98
—, Roman lead scaling from, 36, Pl. VII
Burleigh, Robert, maltster, 126
Burnham Norton (Norf.), pulpit, 291
Burrell, P.C., of Stoke Park, 24
Burwell (Cambs.), 302
—, bronze penannular ring, 220
Buxton, Folwell, partner in Truman’s
—, fieldwork, 47
—, finds, 226
Butley, 95, 99n
—, find, 141, 226
Butley Priory, priors, 101, 108, 113n
—, finds, 141
Butley, 95, 99n
—, excavation, 236-37
—, finds, 226
—, pottery kiln, 236-7
Burstall, 94, 95
—, finds, 226, ilus. 227
Bury St Edmunds, 16, 98, 169
— —, Abbey, 198
— —, archives, 165, 171
— —, chest from, 204
— —, church, west front, 161
— —, endowments, 168, 169
— —, estates, 274
— —, Gardens and churchyard, 161, 162
— —, killing of prior by rebels, 276, 278
— —, legal suit with men of
— —, Norman Great Gate/bell tower, 288
— —, polychrome relief tiles, 3
— —, Athenaeum, 1861 exhibition, 23, 29n
— —, Babwell Friary excavations, 151
— —, bellfounders at, 288-297
— —, bell foundry trade shields, 295
— —, Cathedral of St James visited, 161
— —, Chapel of the Charnel, 161
— —, Clifton’s Asylum, 161
— —, Court of King’s Bench sessions held in, 280
— —, court of the Liberty, 169
— —, Eastgate Street, 162
— —, finds, 44, 140, 226
— —, ‘Manor House’, 161
— —, museum, 23
— —, Papal bula of Urban IV found, 226
— —, parish of St James, 73
— —, parish of St Mary, 73
— —, Provost’s House, 161
— —, rebels at, 275
— —, St James’ church, 288
— —, interior, ilus. 282
— —, St Mary’s church, brass to John Smyth and wife, 290
— —, St Nicholas ‘Boy Bishop’ token found, 226
— —, Shire Hall, 161
— —, Visitation of 1636, 208
— —, visited, 161
Butler, Sir Thomas, of Cloughgrohan, 19
Butley, 95, 99n
—, Burrow Hill excavations, 50, 151
Butly, 95, 175
Byrhtferth, king’s thegn, 175
Byrhtnoth, of Essex, 165, 169, 179n
—, find, 309
Byrhtnoth, of Essex, 165, 169, 179n
—, Royal Diploma, 172-79
Chesil, Milk, bell found of Bury St
Edmunds, 296
Chevington, 78, 90
—, manor, 281
—, rebel tenants, 278, 279
Chilham (Kent), castle and church visited, 247
Chillesford, 78, 85, 99n
—, finds, 226-7, ilus. 227
Chilston, 91
—, King’s grant of, 165, 169
—, Royal Diploma, 172-79
Chichester, John, bellfounder of Bury St
Edmunds, 296
Chippenham (Cambs.), Hospitallers’
manor, 284
Chichester, Reigmold, bellfounder, 291, 295, 296
—, Thomas, bellfounder, 291, 295
Church of the Holy Trinity
Mansion, Ipswich, plaster
busts, 26
Church Brampton (Northants.), church
chest, 202-206, Pls. XII-XIV
—, manor of, 205
church chest, Icklingham and Church
Brampton (Northants.), 202-6, Pls.
XI-XIV
churching of women ceremony, 209
Clare, 98
—, bailiff, 17
—, common pasture dispute, 16, 19
—, feoffees of church estate, 17
—, feoffees of the common pasture, 16

C
Cadiz, expedition to, 10
Cambridge, 16, 169
Campsey Ash, 98
Candler, 110
Canterbury, Cathedral and Precincts
visited, 246
Canterbury, excursion to, 246
—, St Augustine’s Abbey, 246
—, St Thomas’s Hospital, 246
—, Westgate visited, 247
‘Capability’ Brown, 245
Capel St Andrew, 98
—, fieldwork, 44, 141, 226, 233
—, finds, 141
—, small barrows, 44, 141, 226
Capel St Mary, 94
Carew family, 8
Carey family, 8
Carlford deannery, 84
Carlford hundred, tax relief, 79, 96-97
Carlton Colville, 92
—, find, 141
Carver, John, constable of Lakenheath,
161
Cavell, Nurse Edith, 207
Cavendish, 98
—, Colt’s Hall excavations, 50-51
Cavendish, Sir John, Chief Justice of
King’s Bench, 275, 276, 280, 281, 285
Cavenham, 88
Cawston (Norf.), terret, 35
Cecil, Sir Robert, 10
Chamberlain, Richard, curate of Hun-
ston, 208, 209
Channel Islands, expedition, 215
Chapman, Simon, 277
Charles I, King, 214, 215, 217
Charles II, King, 298, 299
Charsfield, 95
—, finds, 226, ilus. 227
Chaxton, C.W., of Metfield, 48
Chatteris (Cambs.), nunnery, 171
Chattisham, 98
Chedburgh, 91
Chedworth, 90
Chelmendon, 94
—, find, 309
Chelmsford, 90, 165, 169, 171
—, bounds in 962 charter, 176-79
—, bronze finger ring, 226
—, Cakebridge, 176, 177
—, Common, 179
—, find, 226
—, King’s grant of, 165, 169
—, Royal Diploma, 172-79
Cheney, John, bellfounder of Bury St
Edmunds, 296
Chevington, 78, 90
—, manor, 281
—, rebel tenants, 278, 279
Chilham (Kent), castle and church visited, 247
Chillesford, 78, 85, 99n
—, finds, 226-7, ilus. 227
Chilton-by-Sudbury, 78, 86, 99n
—, finds, 141
Chilton Hall, gateway, 40, Pl. VII
Chilton Street, 90, 99n
Chipley, 96, 90
Chippenhall, 91, 99n
Chippenham (Cambs.), Hospitallers’
manor, 284
Chirche, Reigmold, bellfounder, 291, 295, 296
—, Thomas, bellfounder, 291, 295
Christchurch Mansion, Ipswich, plaster
busts, 26
Church Brampton (Northants.), church
chest, 202-206, Pls. XII-XIV
—, manor of, 205
church chest, Icklingham and Church
Brampton (Northants.), 202-6, Pls.
XI-XIV
churching of women ceremony, 209
Clarke, 98
—, bailiff, 17
—, common pasture dispute, 16, 19
—,feoffees of church estate, 17
—,feoffees of the common pasture, 16
Corden, John Shewell, 111
Cornard, Great, 88
Cornard, Little, 88
Cornwallis family, 80
Corpus Christi College, Cambridge, 217
Corpus Christi, feast of, 281
Corton, 93
—, fieldwalking, 229-231
Cotford hundred, 274
—, tax relief, 79, 80, 89-90
Cotton, 93
court patronage, 8-15
Courtney family (Marquesses of Exeter), 9
Covellite, 91
Cowton, 1522 military return, 305
Coverdale's translation of Psalm 130, 221
Cowegregge, Aldhelm, mason, of Bury St Edmunds, 296
Cowling, 90
Cracknell, Thomas, maltster, 119
Crane family, of Chilton, 40
—, Robert, 306, 307, 308n
—, William, serf, of Felixstowe, 283
Cranley, hamlet of Eye, 76, 93
Craford, 96
cult of St Edmund, and Hoxne, 182-95
customary tenants, 182-95
custumary tenants, 274
D
Dalham, 91
—, finds, 141
Dallinghoo, 95
Dandy, Edmund, 101
—, William, of Grestingeham, 109
Dar尔斯 ware, 236
Darsham, 91
Davy, David Elisha, 159, 288, 290
—, —, visit to St Stephen's, Ipswich, 105, 111
Davy, Eleazar, of Grove Park, Yoxford, 159
Day, Henry, Ipswich church decorator, 24
Debach, 98
—, fieldwork, 146
Deben, River, 237, 314
—, chart of 1845, 41-42, illus. 42
Debenham, 95, 98
—, church visited, 327
—, Angel Inn, 327
—, Buck Inn, 327
—, 'camping close', 327
—, finds, 309
—, visited, 327
—, wall paintings, 222
de Burgh, Elizabeth, Lady of Clare, 284
decorative ironwork, 203, 204
de Gray, Bishop of Norwich, 185
de Gosbeck, Ralph or Richard, 279
de Kirkeby, John, Bishop of Ely, 205
de la Pole, John, Duke of Suffolk, 323
de Losinga, Herbert, Bishop of Norwich, 184, 185, 198, 199, 234, 252
de More, Richard, of Iken, 279
de Neverys (Noers), William, 198
de Phillipsco, Marie, Princess (wife of Sir Stephen Lakeman), 24
de Shardelowe, Sir John, of Little Barton, 284, 285
de Skerning, Roger, Bishop of Norwich, 186
Denham, 86, 90, 91
—, church, owned by Hoxne Priory, 186
—, stalls, 190
Dennington, 91
Denston, 91
denstone church, Drury brass, 290
depden, 90
derford (Kent), 214
despenser, Bishop Henry, 282
—, licence to crenelate, 197, 200n
de Sturmy, William, lord of Iken, 279
devon, Earl of, 9
d'Ewes, Sir Symonds, 208, 209
diaper pattern wallpainting, 221
dingle, the, 92
docking Hall, Metfield, 48
docwra, Sir Henry, 19
dove, river, 183
dover Castle, visited, 246
dowsingwilliam, iconoclast, 111, 244
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

Draper, Thomas, rebel, of South Elmham, 276, 283
Drinkstone, 89
Druzy, Henry, 8
Dunmow, Abbot Richard, of Leiston, 152
Dunningworth, 78, 80, 85, 99n
Dunstan, Archbishop of Canterbury, 174, 176
Dunwich, 97
—, lead pilgrim ampulla from, 43
—, parishes of St Leonard, St Martin and St Nicholas, 73
Dunwich deanery, 94
Durham Court of Chancery, ironwork on chest, 204

Eadnoth, 171
Eadwig, son of King Edmund, 169
Earl Soham, 95
—, Scott, —, of, 191
—, tenantry, 275, 279
Earl Stonham, 95
—, church visited, 327
Early Anglo-Saxon settlement sites, 314
Earsham Street, 91
East Anglian enclosure disputes, 16
East Anglian Kings, 169
East Bergholt, 76, 94, 298
East Saxon ealdordom, 169
Eastern Association, 210, 212
Easton, 96
Easton Bavents, 92
—, oak steering board washed up, 227, illus. 227
Eastwood (Essex), ironwork on church door, 204
Eborard, Bishop, 185
Echynam, Anne, 159
Edgar, King, 165, 169, 174
Edith (Mascherell), wife of Ralph the Dapifer, 184, 185
Edward the Elder, King, 171
—, St, cult, 182-95, 198
—, image, 187, 190
—, relics, 165
—, shrine, 165
Edward the Elder, King, 171, 176
Edward, Henry, 98n
Edwardstone, 88
—, finds, 141, 227
Edis the chaplain, of Hoxne, 186
Ellis, Lt F.W., R.N., Collector and Surveyor of Works, 120, 124-126
Ellough, 79, 92
Ely, Abbey archives, 165
Ely, Abbey, Bishop's palace in Holborn, 205
—, Cathedral, chest from, 204-5
—, Priory, 251
—, estates, 274
Emmanuel College, Cambridge, 217
Enclosure disputes, 16
Eriswell, 81, 88
—, bronze penannular ring, 219-220, illus. 219
—, tanged arrowhead from Foxhole Heath, 220n
—, finds, 44, 219-220, 227
Erwarton, 94
—, Hall gateway, 71
Essex, Earl of, 10, 11
Ethelbert, St, 182, 183
Ethelmar, Bishop, 235
Euston, 99n
—, church, Suffolk School brass, 290
—, Hall, 245
—, Park, 86, 245
—, King Charles's Gate, 245
—, Temple or Banqueting House, 245
—, St Genevieve's church, 245, 290
—, watermill, 245
Everard, William, of Mildenhall, 277
Exeter, Marquess of (Courtenay), 9
Exning, 91, 300
—, Bronze-Age multiple burial at, 131-134, Pl. IX
—, finds, 141
Exning hundred, tax relief, 79, 80, 91
Eye, 93
—, Abbey Farm, 324, Pl. XX
—, Castle, excavations, 317
—, church visited, 323
—, Guildhall/grammar School, 323
—, Gunsey's Bank, 118
—, hamlets of, 76, 93
—, Kerrison Memorial, 323
—, market, 118, 183
—, National Schools, 323
—, Priory, 323-24, Pl. XY
Eyke, 96
—, finds, 44

Felixstowe, 97
—, find, 141
—, manor records, destruction of, 283
—, prior of, 283
—, rebel tenants, 278
—, Roman lead sealing, 36
Felnham, 89
—, find, 141
—, field surveys, 46-49, 145-50, 230-36, 313-17
Finborough, Great, 94
Finborough, Little, 87, 94, 99n
Finningham, 93, 208
Fitzgerald, Edward, lieutenant of the Gentlemen Pensioners, 10
Fitzroy family, 245
Flempton, 76, 86, 90
—, find, 141
Flixton, 79
—, finds, 227-8
—, Hall, 196
—, Priory, manor courts, 197
Flixton (in Looeingland), 74, 84, 99n
Floor-tiles, Blackfriars, Canterbury, 4
—, Faversham Abbey (Kent), 4
—, Orford Castle, 1-7, illus. 2, Pls I, II
—, St Augustine's Abbey, Canterbury, 4
—, incised, 5, Pl. III
—, plain glazed, Westminster Abbey, 5
Flowston, 83, 95, find, 141
Folkes, Thomas, 80
Font restorations, 21
Ford, Robert, 396
Fordham deanery, 99n
Fordley, 91
Fornham All Saints, 78, 90
—, Papal Bull found, 44
Fornham St Genevieve, 76, 86, 89
Fornham St Martin, 76, 89
Forster, Revd Samuel, 159
Four Ashes, Walsham-le-Willows, 49
Foxhall, 84, 97
—, find, 141
Framlingham, 95
—, finds, 141, 228
—, Gunsey's Bank, 118
—, Iron-Age site excavated, 318
Franksden, 98
—, church visited, 327
—, finds, 309
—, Hall visited, 327-8
Frecan, nr. Chessington (Surrey), 10
Freckenham, 88
—, finds, 44, 309-10, illus. 312
Free British Fishery at Southwold, 119
Free tenants, 274, 275
Fressingfield, 91, 99n
—, finds, 310
Freston, 94
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

Hervey, Anthony, 9
—, Bridget, 14
—, Edmund, 9
—, Elizabeth, 10
—, Francis, 10
—, George, 10
—, Sir George (d. 1520), 9
—, Henry, 10, 11
—, John (d. 1556), 9, 10, 14
—, John, of Ickworth (d. 1679), 11
—, John, first Earl of Bristol, 72
—, Lord Arthur, 65, 70
—, Revd Archdeacon Lord Arthur, 24, 29
—, Sir Nicholas, 9, 10
—, Thomas, 8, 9, 10
—, William (d. 1538), 9, 14
—, William, son of John (d. 1592), 14, 15n
—, his 1561 Visitation of Suffolk reviewed, 130
—, William, Lord Hervey of Kidbrooke (d. 1642), 10, 11, 14
Hervey family, of Mildenhall, 227, 278
—, Roger, son of William, 277, 282
—, William, of Mildenhall, 277
Hessett, 89
Heth, Thomas, 98n
Heveningham, 92
Higman, nr Kentford, 88
Higham, nr Stratford St Mary, 98
Highlands campaigns, 215, 218
Hinderclay, 88
Hintlesham, 94
Hitcham, 98
—, Brick House Farm excavations, 52, illus. 57
—, Fen Farm, moated site, 44
—, finds, 44
—, water mill, 44
 Hobson, Christian (née Wimbill), 109, 113n
—, Robert, 109, 113n
Hodson, Nathaniel Shirley Harness, botanic gardener, 162
Holborn, Bishop of Ely's palace in, 205
Holbrook, 94
Holden, H.A., Headmaster of Ipswich School, 29
Holdenby House, (Northants.), 213, 214
Hollies, 96
Hollingbury Hill (Sussex), torc, 136
Holton, 76, 92
Holton St Mary, 94
Homerfield, 79
—, manor, 198
—, tithes, 185, 186
—, watermill, 200n
Honington, 89
Hoo, 84, 95
—, finds, 228
Hooker, William, 116
Hopton, 89, 93
Hopton, Sir Arthur, 159
—, John, 159
—, Sir Owen, 159
—, Thomasine, 159
Horam, 91
Horkesley, Little (Essex), wall paintings, 222
Horncastle (Lincs.), Dymoke bras's, 291
Horsington, 169, 171
Horringer, Great, 78, 90
Horringer, Little, 78, 80, 86, 90
Hoxne, 91, 234
—, Abbey Farm, 187, 189, 191, 192
—, Askern, 189
—, chapels, 185, 186, 187, 190, 191, 192
—, chapel of Our Lady of Chickering, 191
—, chapel of St Edmund (Great Chapel), 185, 186, 187, 190, 191, 192, 198
—, chapel of St Edmund's martyrdom (Newark), 187, 192
—, Chapel Piece, 189
—, Chickering Beck, 186
—, Clink Hill, 189
—, Cross Street, 187, 189, 192
—, cult of St Edmund's martyrdom, 182-195
—, deer parks, 183
—, finds, 228
—, Hall estate map, 189
—, Haskers, Gt & Lt., 189
—, Low Street, 192
—, Mill Hill, 189
—, minster, 183
—, Newmark Chapel, 187, 189, 191, 192
—, Newark, 189
—, Priory, 185, 186, 187, 189, 190, 191, 192
—, Rasebridge, 189, 192
—, St Edmund monument, 192, 193
—, St Edmund's Oak, 192
—, Sowood or Sutwode, 190
Hoxne deanery, 83
Hoxne hundred, 183
—, rebels in, 275
—, tax relief, 76, 78, 80, 91
Humphrey, Richard, farmer, of Walsham-le-Willows, 211, 212
Hundon, 98
—, fieldwork, 145
—, rebel tenants, 278
Hunston, 86, 99n
—, find, 310
Huntingfield, Great, 91
—, Little, 91
Hurt, Edward, Trooper, 212

I

Iceni territory: enamelled bronze terrets found in, 35
Icklingham, 88
—, All Saints, church chest, 202-6, Pls XI, XIIa, XIVb
—, —, dimensions, 205n
—, —, fieldwork, 313
—, —, finds, 228
—, St James, church chest, 202-6, Pls XI, XIIa, XIVb
Icknield Way at Thetford, 325
Ickworth, 8-15, 78, 86, 90, 169
—, Manor Field, 65
—, Manor House, brick footings, 66
—, —, cellar, 67, 68;
—, —, ditches, 65-66
—, —, enclosure ditch, 65, 71, illus. 69
—, —, excavations, 65-72
—, —, garderobe, 68
—, —, Lord Hervey's 1844 plan, 70
—, —, moulded bricks, 68
Iken, 96
—, lord of, 279
—, tenantry, 275, 279
Ilketshalls, 79, 92
Ilketshall St John, 84
Independents, 212
Ingham, 86, 88
Invercick, Scotland, 218
International Exhibition in London 1862, 23, 24, 27
Ipswich, aldermanic bench, 29
—, Anglo-Saxon town centre excavated, 318
—, Blackfriars site visited, 61
—, Boss Hall moated manor site excavation, 318
—, Brook Street, 108
—, Buttermarket area excavations, 318
—, California district, 22
—, Cardinal College, 108
—, Carmelite Friary excavations, 318
—, Cauldwell Hall Estate, 22
—, corn exports, 116
—, Crane Street, 22
—, excavations, 52, 151
—, Felaw's House excavations, 151
—, finds, 44, 142, 228, 310
—, Foundation Street excavations, 151
—, Freehold Road, 22
—, Holy Trinity Priory, last Prior, 113
—, John Ogilby's map of 1674, 103, 112
—, maltings at, 116
—, Museum, 29
—, Pykenham gateway visited, 60
—, Queen Street, 21
—, rebels at, 275, 285
—, St Lawrence church, reredos, 24, 26, 29n
SUFFOLK INSTITUTE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

Ipswich, St Lawrence church visited, 60
—, St Mary-le-Tower, brasses, 101, illus. 102
—, St Peter’s church, visited, 61
—, St Peter’s Street/Greyfriars Road excavations, Saxon features, 237
—, St Stephen’s church, Domesday mention, 101
—, Saxon features, 237
—, St Peter’s Street/Greyfriars Road excavations, Saxon features, 237
—, St Stephen’s church, Domesday mention, 101
—, St Peter’s church, visited, 61
—, St Peter’s Street/Greyfriars Road excavations, Saxon features, 237
—, St Stephen’s church, Domesday mention, 101
—, Saxon features, 237
—, Rush Chapel, 101-114
—, Lane, 108
—, Spring Road, 21, 22
—, St Stephen’s church, Domesday mention, 101
—, Rush Chapel, 101-114
—, Lane, 108
—, Spring Road, 21, 22

L

Lackford, 78, 90
—, finds, 44, 227
—, Hundred, 1522 muster roll, 308n
—, tax relief, 78, 79, 88
Lakenheath, 88, 171
—, Caudle Head lake, 318
—, finds, 37, 44, 45, 142, 228, 318
—, iron- Age pit, 318
—, rebel, 280
—, terrac, 35
Lakenheath, John, monk of Bury, 276
land tenure in Suffolk, 169
Lanfranc, Archbishop of Canterbury, 184
Langham, 98
Langland, Piers Plowman, 281
Langton, hamlet of Eye, 76, 93
Lanzer, Thomas, milliner of Bury St Edmund, 301
Lark, River, 238
Laudian church reforms, 209
Lavenham, 98, 307
—, Brook, 179
Lawshall, 88, 171
Laxfield, 98

K

Kedington, 90
—, fieldwork, 145
Kelly, Sir Fitzroy, 29
Kelsale, 98
Kelvedon (Essex), wall paintings, 222
Kent, William, architect, 159, 245
Kentford, 91
Kenton, 95
Kentwell Hall, 65
Kerrison, Lady Caroline, 23, 192, 323
—, Sir Charles, 23, 192, 323
Kersey, 98
—, rebels at, 285
—, Sampson Hall, 285
Kesgrave, 84, 97
Kessingland, 92
Kent, William, architect, 159, 245
Kenton, 95
Kew House, Convoy (Co. Donegal), 19
kilns, pottery, 48
—, tile, 3, 4, 48
King’s Lynn, bellfounder, 297n
Kirke, Edward, rector of Risby, 243
Kirmington (Lincs.), 36
Kirton, 97
Knettishall, 88, 171
—, finds, 37, 44, 45, 142, 228, 318
—, iron- Age pit, 318
—, rebel, 280
—, terrac, 35
Lakenheath, John, monk of Bury, 276
land tenure in Suffolk, 169
Lanfranc, Archbishop of Canterbury, 184
Langham, 98
Langland, Piers Plowman, 281
Langton, hamlet of Eye, 76, 93
Lanzer, Thomas, milliner of Bury St Edmund, 301
Lark, River, 238
Laudian church reforms, 209
Lavenham, 98, 307
—, Brook, 179
Lawshall, 88, 171
Laxfield, 98

Laxfield, All Saints church visited, 244
—, Baptiste Chapel, 244
—, Dowings Farm, painted panel found, 45
—, Guildhall Museum, 244
—, medieval painted panel, 45
Lay Subsidy of 1428, 73
—, 1449, 76
—, 1524, 78, 80
Layham, 90
—, finds, 45
Lectures 1984–87, 62, 163, 248, 328
Leiston, 91
—, barley from, 121
—, finds, 45, 310
—, Sizewell House, 25
—, Abbey, excavations, 52, 152, illus. 152
le Mowere, John, of Redlingfield, 280
Lenacre, 96
Leofgifu, patroness of St Neots, 171
Letchworth (Herts.), ironwork on church door, 204
Letheringham, 95
Leverett, Mr, photographer, 22
Levington, 97
Levold, Samuel, draper, of Ely, 301
Lewes (Sussex), wall paintings, 222
Lichfield Cathedral, ironwork on west doors, 203–4
Lidgate, 90
Lilford (co. Donegal), 19, 20
Lindsey, 98
Linstead, 91
Linstead Magna, Linstead Farm, origins, 244
—, St Peter’s church site, 244
Little Domesday, 171
Livermere, Great, 89
Livermere, Little, 88
Liverpool, malt to, 116
Loes deanery, 84
—, hundred, tax relief, 79, 93–6
London, grain and malt to, 116
London, 1862 Internation Exhibition, 23, 24, 27
Longespe, Bishop, of Lichfield, 204
Long Melford, 98, 307
—, finds, 45, 142, 228, 310
Lothingland, deanery, 83–84
—, hundred, tax relief, 79, 93
Loudham, 81, 96
Lound, 93
Lowestoft, 98
—, excursion to, 244
—, finds, 45, 142, 228, 310
—, Maritime Museum, 245
—, market, 118
—, St Margaret’s church visited, 244
—, steam dredger, 125
—, tithe barn, 244

340
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

M
Mackenzie, Thomas, corn merchant, 115
Maldon, battle of, 165, 169
—, Capt. Margery at, 213, 214
Malet, Robert, 183
malt, unit of measure of, 127
malting, in East Suffolk, 115-29, PI. VIII
Manchester 1857, Art Treasures Exhibition, 22, 27
—, malt sent to, 116
Manners family, 8
Manning, Thomas, of Sudbourne, last Prior of Butley, 198, 113n
Mannynge, Robert, of Brune, 187, 192
mansae, 169
Manton, John, maltster of Gainsborough (Lincs.), 117
Marburg (Germany), St Elizabeth’s church, ironwork on doors, 203, 204
Margery, Abigail, dau. of Raphe, wife of Lt. Roper, 213
—, Abigail, wife of Raphe, 208, 217
—, Eliazar: 208
—, James, 207, 208
—, John, yeoman farmer of Walsham-le-Willows, 207
—, Mary, 207
—, Raphe, Capt., Ironside, 207-218
—, Richard, of Walsham and Swardston, 207, 208
—, Samuel, snr, 207
—, Simon, 218
—, Theophilus, 208, 217, 218
Marlesford, 95, 99n
Marriage, Brian, miller, 160
Martindale, William, of Newmarket, 301
Martyn, Nicholas, 208, 209
Mary Tudor, Queen of France, 10, 323
Mascherell family, 185
—, Edith, 184
—, Theodric, 185
—, Walter the Deacon, 185
Massingham, Great (Norf.), Priory, 325
Mattishall (Norf.), finds, 45, 143, 228, 311, Pl. XIX
—, fieldwalking, 48, 146, 231, 314
—, Isleham Marina excavations, 238
—, legal suits with Bury Abbey, 277, 278
—, manorial accounts, 277, 282
—, penannular gold ring from West Row, 219-20, illus. 219
—, silver gilt pendant made from Danish coin, 311, Pl. XIX
Meldenhall, Swales Fen excavations, 238
—, West Row Fen excavations, 153, 238-39
moated sites, medieval, 48, 147
Moffat, Hugh, 41
monastic sign language, 251-273
Monck, Gen., 218
Monewen, 95
Monk Soham, 91
Monks Eleigh, 98, 176, 177
—, find, 143
Montague, Viscount, 9
monumental brasses, 159
Moulton, 91
Mutford, 92
—, Hundred, tax relief, 79, 92
N
Nacton, 97
—, finds, 45, 143, 228
Naseby, battle of, 213
Naughton, 89
Nave, Thomas, of Boxted, 226
Nayland, 98, 99n
Nedging, 90, 177, 179
—, find, 45
Needham Market, 98
—, Ancient House, William Street, 160
—, Chapel of St John Baptist, visited, 160
—, find, 45
—, No. 109 High Street, 160
—, town visited, 159-60
—, area, medieval buildings in, visited, 159
Needham Street (nr. Kentford), 91
Nelson, Richard, of Newmarket, 300, 301
Nettlestead, 80, 95, 99n
Neve, William, wheelwright, 112
New Model Army, 211, 212, 213
Newbourne, 97
—, church font, 21
Newmarket, 16, 80
—, Bronze Age multiple burial (Exning parish), 131-34, Pl. IX
—, butchers in 1670, 302
—, great fire of 1683, 299, 304
—, Hearth Tax returns, 298, 304
—, —, payers, occupations, 299
—, Poor rate, 300-1
—, in reign of Charles II, 298-304
—, St Mary, 91
Newton, 88
—, church visited, 60
—, finds, 45
—, parson of, 307
Nicholas, St (Boy Bishop) token, 71, 226, 229

Meare (Somerset), ironwork on church door, 204
Mellis, 93
—, finds, 45
Melton, 96
—, fieldwork, 314
—, finds, 314
—, rebels at, 275
Mendham, 91
—, Cockers Green, 48
—, fieldwalking survey, 47-48
—, finds, 142, 228, 310
—, Hall, 48
—, moated sites, 48
—, pottery kilns, 48, 156, 237
—, Priory, 48
—, Shotford Chapel, 47
—, —, Hall, 47
—, Withersdale, 47
Mendlesham, 76, 81, 99n, 298
—, Elms Farm, wall paintings, 226-28, Pls. 9-10
—, Green, 81
—, Tan Office, 81
—, Wealden-type house, 221
Metefeld, William, snr & jnr, rebels, of Brandon, 276, 284
Metfield, 48, 91, 99n
—, Common, 48
—, Docking Hall, 149
—, fieldwalking, 48
—, moated sites, 48
—, pottery kilns, 156, 237
Methwold (Norf.), manor of, 176
Mettingham, 79, 92
—, finds, 45
Mickfield, 95
Middleburg (Netherlands), Francis Harvey’s house at, 10
Middleton, 91
—, barley from, 121
Middleton, Sir William, of Shrubland Park, 24
Milde, Thomas, 98n
Mildenhall, 98, 302
—, Baldwins Lode, 135
—, bronze torc from Snare Drove, Kenny Hill, 135-37
—, Early Bronze-Age cooking trough, 238
—, excavations, 153, 239-40
—, fieldwalking, 48, 146, 231, 314
—, finds, 45, 143, 228, 311, Pl. XIX
—, Isleham Marina excavations, 238
—, legal suits with Bury Abbey, 277, 278
—, manorial accounts, 277, 282
—, penannular gold ring from West Row, 219-20, illus. 219
—, silver gilt pendant made from Danish coin, 311, Pl. XIX

341
INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

Rendlesham, 95, 169
Rennie, John, civil engineer, 119-20, 125
Reston, 93
Rex, Roger, bellfounder, of Bury, 295, 296
Reydon, quay, 124
Richborough (Kent), 36
—, Fort visited, 246
Richmond Fee, 76
Rickinghall Inferior, 89
Rickinghall Superior, 93
'Ring-money', 219
Ringham, Henry, 23
Ringsfield, 79, 84, 85, 92
Ringshall, 95
Rockell Manor, 186
Risbridge Hundred, tax relief, 78, 79, 90-91
Risby, 78, 90, 171
—, Charmans manor, 243
—, Hall manor, 243
—, Little Manor, 243
—, Lower Farmhouse, 243
—, manors, 243
—, Queues manor, 243, 297n
—, St Giles's church visited, 243
—, wall paintings, 243
Rishangles, 87, 94
Rive Blyth Commissioners, 119, 121, 125, 126
Rivers (Rever), Augustine, Prior of
Woodbridge and Butley, 101, 108
—, John, 101
Robert of Icklingham, sacrist and prior of
Bury, 204
Robin Hood, legends, 281
Robinson, John Joseph, of Banff, 115, 118, 127n
—, William, of Banff, 118
Rogge, Adam, rebel, of Aldham, 284-5
—, John, of Aldham, 284
—, Matilda, 284-85
Rokewood family, 245
Roman bronze finger ring, 141
—, tile kilns, 3
roof-tiles at Orford Castle, 1-7, Pls. I, II
—, purchased at Hoxne in 1511, 190
Roper, Thomas, Trooper/Lt., 213
Rougham, 89
—, finds, 45, 311
Rous family, 80, 119, 120
—, Anthony, 113
—, John Edward Cornwallis, Earl of
Stradbroke, 120, 121, 125
—, Robert, 98n
Rowley, Sir William, M.P., 120.
Rowse, James, vicar of Lowestoft, 244
Roydon, (Norf.), 208
Royston, Augustinian Priory, 159
Rumbold, Charles, M.P. for Yarmouth,
116, 121
Rumphius, 76, 92
—, Bloom's Hall, 149
—, maltings at, 119
—, Priory, 162, 235
Runnymede inscription on gold bracteate from
Undley (Lakenheath), 37, Pl. VIIb
Rupert, Prince, 213
Rushbrooke, 89
Rushford, 88
Rushmere (nr Lowestoft), 92
—, enamelled bronze terret ring, 34-35,
ilus. 94
—, finds, 34-35, 143
Rushmere (nr Lowestoft), 92
—, enamelled bronze terret ring, 34-35,
ilus. 94
—, finds, 34-35, 143
Russell, Lord John, bust of, 22, 23, 29
Saham Toney (Norf.), terret, 35
St Ives (Hunts), monastery, 171
St Olave's bridge, 118
—, maltings at, 116
Samford, deanery, 84
—, Hundred, tax relief, 78, 79, 94
Sampson, Thomas, rebel, of Kersey, 276, 280, 285
Samson, Abbot of Bury St Edmunds, 204
Sandy ( Beds.), 217
Santon Downham, 88
—, finds, 143, 311
Santon (Norf.), terret, 35
Saxham, Great, 78, 90
Saxham, Little, 78, 90
—, finds, 229
Saxmundham, 96, 99n
—, finds, 144
—, Park House, Victorian ironwork, 326
Saxstead, 91
Scott, —, of Earl Soham, 109
Seckford Hall, pottery scatters near, 231
Semen, 89, 179
Sempringham Priory, 187
Separatists, (Brownists), 212
—, serfs, 274, 279
Shadingfield, 79, 84, 92
Sheldland, 94
Shelley, 96, 179
Shimpling, 88
Ship Money, refusal to pay, 209
Shipmeadow, 79, 92
Shotley, 94
—, finds, 144, 229
Shottisham, 96
—, fieldwork, 314
—, finds, 229, 314
Shilton, 91
—, Abbey, grange at Linstead, 244
—, maltings, 116
Sidney, Revd Edwin, rector of Little
Cornard, 29
sign language, monastic, 251-73
Simon of Sudbury, Archbishop of
Canterbury, 247
Sizewell House, 25
Smar, William, 113
Smyth, John and wife, brass to, 290, 291
Snap, 96, 169
—, Anglo-Saxon cemetery, 162
—, ship burial, 154, 162, 319
—, Bridge, 162
—, church of St John Baptist visited, 162
—, excavations, 154, 239, 318-9
—, Priory, 162
—, Thingelowe family, 162
Snowshill Manor (Worcs.), 159
Soham, Roger Austen of, 109
Somerlynton, 93
Somersham, 95
Somerton, 88
Sotherton, 85, 91
Sotterley, 79, 92
South Cove, 91
South East Suffolk Field Survey, fieldwork,
49, 146-47, 231, 233, 314-15
South Elmham, 77, 79, 92
—, The Beck, 196, 199, 233, 234, 235,
315-17
—, bishopric, 233
—, Cathedral, 119
—, cremation urns, 199
—, deer parks, 199
—, drove road, 235
—, Hall, 147, 149, 198, 200n, 233, 234,
324-25, Pl. XIX
—, Hundred, 199
—, Liberty, 198
—, Manor, 197, 199
—, —, House, chapel, and ‘cloyster’,
197, 198, 199, 200n, 234
—, —, large-scale building works,
197
—, —, licence to crenellate, 187
South Elmham, mill, 199, 200n
—, Minster, 52, 147, 149, 196, 233, 234, 324, 325, Pl. XXII
—, refs in medieval account rolls, 196-201
—, site of original church, 324
—, Yard, 196, 199, 325
—, New Park, 197
—, Old Park, 196, 199
—, Oldhallestede, 199
—, rebels, 282-83
—, All Saints, 234-35
—, Common, 234-35
—, Green, 234-35
—, Meen's Farm, 235
—, St Cross, 233, 234, 324
—, St George's church, 234
—, excavations at Minster, 52
—, fieldwalking, 49, 147-49, illus. 148, 198
—, St James, 282-83
—, fieldwalking, 49, 147, 199, 325
—, Oldhallestede, 199
—, mill, 200n, 234
—, sites map, 232
—, Green, 233-35
—, St Michael, fieldwalking, 315-17, map 316
—, —, —, heraldic pendants, 317
—, —, St Nicholas, 200n, sites map 232, 233, 234
—, —, St Peter, fieldwalking, 315-17, map 316
Southampton, Dowager Countess of, 11
—, Earl of, 11
Southolt, 91
Southtown (Li. Yarmouth), 84, 93, 99n, 115
Southwell, Sir Robert, 189, 191
Southwold, 92
—, corn exports, 116
—, Free British Fishery, 119
—, gold coin found, 144
—, harbour, 119
—, bar, 124, 125
—, Commission, 119, 120, 125
—, 1844 public inquiry into condition, 125-6
—, Tidal Harbour Commission's inquiry, 126
—, Hill House, South Green, 120
—, maltings 116
Sparrowe, J.E., bust of, 21, 29
Spexhall, 76, 85, 92
Spink, John, 161
Spring, Thomas, of Lavenham, 306, 308
—, Sir William, M.P., for Bury, 210, 212
Springe, Sir William, coat of arms, 161
Sproughton, 94
Stanningfield, 98, 99n
Stansfield, 98
Stanton, 99
—, finds, 311
—, terret, 35
Statute of Labourers, 276, 280
Stead, Patrick, maltster and corn merchant, 115-28, 327
Steele, Edward, 192
—, steering board, found at Easton Bavents, illus. 227
Stoke Ash, 93
—, finds, 144, 229, 311
Stoke-by-Clare, 90, 99n
—, fieldwork, 145
—, heraldic pendants, 165, 169
—, proposed monastery, 165
—, —, —, endowment, 165, 169
Stoke Park, 24
—, —, —, statues, 24
Stonham Aspal, 95
—, finds, 229
Stonham, Little, 95
Stotevile, Sir Thomas, 229
Stow, 85, 92, 99n
Stow deanery, 87
—, Hundred, tax relief, 78, 79, 94
Stowlangtoll, 98
Stowmarket, 98
Stowupland, 98
—, finds, 45
Stradbroke, 91
Stradishall, 91, 302
Stratford St Andrew, 96
—, ring ditches, 45
Stratton Hall, 85, 97
Stuston, 93, 208
—, finds, 144, 229
Stutton, 94
—, finds, 311
Sudbourne, 96, 108
—, finds, 43-46
Sudbury, 98
—, All Saints church visited, 247
—, gilds, 248
—, military return, 307
—, St Gregory's church visited, 247
—, St Peter's church visited, 247, 248
Sudbury deanery, 86
Suddon, hamlet of Eye, 76, 93
Suffolk, Earl of, 281, 299
Suffolk Fine Art Society, 22, 24
Suffolk School brasses, 288, 290, 291, 344
Suffolk School of Architecture, 293
summer games, 281
Sutton, 96, 109
—, fieldwork, 49, 147, 314
—, Meltersgate, 49
—, Roman silver coin hoard, 319-20
—, Stockerland vill site, 314
Sutton Hall, Bradfield, 182
Sutton Hoo, 169, 239, 319
—, Anglo-Saxon cemetery, 240, 319
—, royal burial mounds, 155
—, chamber grave under Mound 2, 319
—, early medieval flat cemetery, 155
—, 1860 excavations, 41-2
—, fibreglass replicas of burials, 240
—, prehistoric settlement, 155
—, site survey work and excavations, 33, 135, 239-240
—, —, site visited, 162
Sutton Wells (Herefords.), 183
Swaffham Bulbeck (Cambs.), 302
Swardeston (Norf.) 207, 208
Swelling, 96, 98
—, finds, 46
Swilland, 83, 95, 99n
Sydney Sussex College, Cambridge, 217
Syleham, 91
—, —, tribes, 186

T
Tannington, 98
—, find, 144
Tan Office, Mendlesham, 81
Tasburgh family, 325
Tattingstone, 94
Tax-reductions granted in 1449, 88-97, map, 77
Taylor, J.E., Curator of Ipswich Museum, 29
terracotta at Westhorpe Hall site, 320
terracotta ring, enameled bronze, 34-35, illus. 34
Teulon, S.S., architect, 160
Theberton, 91
Theedwarde, John, 159
Thedwastre, deanery, 85-6
—, Hundred, tax relief, 78, 79, 89
Theodred, Bishop of London, 166, 165, 179n, 183, 193n
Theford, John, canon of Butley and last Prior of Holy Trinity, Ipswich, 113
—, Bishop of, 198
—, Court of King's Bench sessions held, 280
—, Castle, Iron Age settlement, 325
—, —, visited, 325
—, Priory visited, 325
Thonge, court of Liberty of Bury, 169
—, deanery, 86
—, Hundred, tax relief, 78, 79, 90
Thomas of Leighton, ironwork by, 204
### INDEX TO VOLUME XXXVI

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Ubbeston, 85, 92</th>
<th>Thorking, 85, 91</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Ufford, 96</td>
<td>Thorndon, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 144</td>
<td>Thorney Abbey, 171, 180n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, fieldwork, 314</td>
<td>Thornham Magna, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 311, 314</td>
<td>Thornham Parva, 87, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Uppishaw, 92, 98</td>
<td>Thornton, Daniel, haberdasher of Newmarket, 302</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ulster, Plantation of, 19</td>
<td>Thorpe (with Ashfield), 95</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>‘Uncle Tom’, bust of, 22</td>
<td>Thorpe Morieux, 90</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ulney (Lakenheath), gold bracteate found, 37, Pl. VII</td>
<td>—, Late-Saxon bronze disc brooch, 46</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Valentine, John, customer at Ipswich, 110, 113n</td>
<td>Thredling Hundred, tax relief, 79, 95</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Vanburgh, Sir John, 72</td>
<td>Thurlow, Great, 91, 302</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Vernon, Elizabeth, 11</td>
<td>—, church, Drury, brass, 290</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wacton, (Norf.), ironwork on church door, 204</td>
<td>Thurlow, Little, 91</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wade, Charles Paget, 159</td>
<td>—, fieldwork, 145</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wade, Keith, archaeologist, 101, 113</td>
<td>Thurston, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wainford Hundred, 198, 199</td>
<td>—, Robert Bright, City salter, buried at, 161</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, maltings at, 116, 118</td>
<td>Thurstaston, Abbot of St Benet’s at Holme, 235</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walberswick, 76, 92, 98</td>
<td>Thurstaston, End, 90</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Waldgrave, Sir Richard, 285</td>
<td>Thurstaston family, 191</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Sir William, 306</td>
<td>Thwaight, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Waldingfield, Great, 98</td>
<td>tile kilns, 3, 44, 48, 197, 200n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 46</td>
<td>tiles, floor, high relief, at Buckfast Abbey, 4</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Waldringfield, 96, 97</td>
<td>—, —, —, —, —, St Albans chapter house, 4</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, churchyard excavations, 155</td>
<td>tiles, purchased at Hoxne in 1511, 159</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, fin, 229</td>
<td>Timworth, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walker, James, civil engineer, 125</td>
<td>Tominson, Major Matthew, 214, 215, 217</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>wall paintings, Elms Farm, Mendlesham, 221–23, Pl. XVI–XVIII</td>
<td>torc, bronze, from Kenny Hill (Milden hall), 135–37</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Risby, 243</td>
<td>Tostock, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walpole, 91</td>
<td>trade shields of Bury St Edmunds bell foundry, illus. 275</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walsall, Dr Francis, chaplain to Charles I, 217</td>
<td>Trimley, maltings at, 116</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Walsham-le-Willows, 89, 99n</td>
<td>—, St Martin, 97</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, —, finds, 46, 144</td>
<td>—, finds, 46, 144</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, St Mary, 97</td>
<td>Troston, 88</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>TRESTHOCK, 89</td>
<td>Truman, Hanban &amp; Buxton, malt supplied to, 116, 117, 124, 126, 127n, 128n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Whaleport, 88</td>
<td>Tuddenham St Martin, 97</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, —, finds, 311</td>
<td>—, (St Mary), 88</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, (St Mary), 88</td>
<td>Tunstall, 96</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tunstall, 96</td>
<td>—, —, Dunningworth, 78, 85, 99n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, possible round barrows, 229, 311</td>
<td>—, possible round barrows, 229, 311</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, round barrow, 46</td>
<td>Turner, Dawson, banker, 116</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Turner, Dawson, banker, 116</td>
<td>Tyrconnell, Earl of, 19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tyronnell, Earl of, 19</td>
<td>Tyrone, Earl of, 19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tythby (Notts.), church chest, 203</td>
<td>Ubbeston, 85, 92</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 144</td>
<td>Watson, John, rector of Woolpit, 212</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thorndon, 93</td>
<td>Wattisfield, 89, 217</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thorney Abbey, 171, 180n</td>
<td>—, finds, 144, 229</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thornham Magna, 93</td>
<td>—, Roman pottery, 49</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thornham Parva, 87, 93</td>
<td>Wautisham, 86, 90</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thornton, Daniel, haberdasher of Newmarket, 302</td>
<td>Waveney River, 118, 235</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Throrpe (with Ashfield), 95</td>
<td>Wealden-type house, Mendlesham, 221</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Throbere Morieux, 90</td>
<td>Westing (Norf.), Grimes Graves visited, 325–26</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Late-Saxon bronze disc brooch, 46</td>
<td>Wellington, Duke of, bust, 22, 23, 28, 29</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thrandeston, 94</td>
<td>Weyls, Alys, will, 187, 190</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thredling Hundred, tax relief, 79, 95</td>
<td>Wenham, Great, 84, 94</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurlow ( Beds.), 8, 9, 14</td>
<td>Wenham, Little, 84, 94</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurlow, Great, 91, 302</td>
<td>Wenhaston, 91</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, church, Drury, brass, 290</td>
<td>Wentworth family, 80, 159</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurlow, Little, 91</td>
<td>—, Philip, 99n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, fieldwork, 145</td>
<td>West Hall, 91</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurston, 89</td>
<td>—, terret, 35</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Robert Bright, City salter, buried at, 161</td>
<td>Westhorpe, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurston, Abbot of St Benet’s at Holme, 235</td>
<td>—, church, Barrowe monument, 210</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurston End, 90</td>
<td>—, finds, 229</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thurston family, 191</td>
<td>—, church visited, 58</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thwaite, 93</td>
<td>Westerfield, 74, 83, 95, 99n</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>tile kilns, 3, 44, 48, 197, 200n</td>
<td>—, finds, 311</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>tiles, floor, high relief, at Buckfast Abbey, 4</td>
<td>Westhall, 91</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, —, —, —, —, Orford Castle, 1–7</td>
<td>—, terret, 35</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, —, —, —, —, St Albans chapter house, 4</td>
<td>Westhorpe, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>tiles, purchased at Hoxne in 1511, 190</td>
<td>—, Bronze-Age cremation burial, 31–33</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Timworth, 89</td>
<td>—, Early-Bronze-Age urn, 31–33, illus. 31</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tomlinson, Major Matthew, 214, 215, 217</td>
<td>Westley, 78, 90</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>torc, bronze, from Kenny Hill (Milden hall), 135–37</td>
<td>Westminster Abbey, Eleanor Grille, 204</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tostock, 89</td>
<td>Weston, 79, 81, 84, 92</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>trade shields of Bury St Edmunds bell foundry, illus. 275</td>
<td>Weston Market, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Trimley, maltings at, 116</td>
<td>Wetherden, 94</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, St Martin, 97</td>
<td>—, Hall, 44</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, finds, 46, 144</td>
<td>Wetheringsett, 93</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, St Mary, 97</td>
<td>—, bronze arrowhead, 229, illus. 276</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Troston, 88</td>
<td>—, bronze socketed axe, 229, illus. 276</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Truman, Hanban &amp; Buxton, malt supplied to, 116, 117, 124, 126, 127n, 128n</td>
<td>—, finds, 144, 229–30, illus. 226, 227, 311, 313</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tuddenham St Martin, 97</td>
<td>Weybread, 91</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, —, find, 311</td>
<td>—, finds, 46, 144, 230, 313</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, (St Mary), 88</td>
<td>—, late medieval double-flue kiln excavated, 156</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tunstall, 96</td>
<td>—, Potters Farm excavations, 156</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, Dunningworth, 78, 85, 99n</td>
<td>—, pottery kilns, 48, 237</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, possible round barrows, 229, 311</td>
<td>—, —, excavated, 156</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, round barrow, 46</td>
<td>—, terret, 35</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Turner, Dawson, banker, 116</td>
<td>Whalley, Col., 213</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tyrconnell, Earl of, 19</td>
<td>Whatfield, 86, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tyrone, Earl of, 19</td>
<td>Whelnetham, Great, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Tythby (Notts.), church chest, 203</td>
<td>Whelnetham, Little, 89</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Washington, Capt. R.N., inquiry into</td>
<td>Wherstead, 94</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>—, find, 313</td>
<td>—, find, 313</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
Whitbreads, brewers, 117
Whittingham, 91, 99n
Whitton, 76, 83, 95
Wicken (Cambs.), 302
Wickham, Henry, alias Sterrell, William, 10
Wickham Market, 21, 29n, 96, 237
Wickham Skeith, 93
—, finds, 313
Wickhambrook, 91, 302
—, find, 230
Wicklow, 169
Wickmere (Norf.), ironwork on church door, 204
Wilby, 91
Wilford, 49, 231
—, deanery, 84
—, Hundred, tax relief, 79, 96
William II, King, 185
William Hervg's 1561 Visitation of Suffolk, reviewed, 130
Williams, James, sculptor, 21-30
Willingham (St Mary), 79, 85, 92
Willis, 81, 83, 99n
Willoughby, Christopher, Lord, 108
—, Lords, of Eresby, 108
—, William, Lord, 113n
Willson family, pedigree, 18
—, Andrew, 20
—, Ann, dau. of Sir John, 20
—, Anne, 17
—, Jeremy, 17, 19
—, John, 17, 19, 20
—, Martha, dau. of Sir Thomas Butler, 19
—, Thomas, 17
—, William, lawyer of Clare, 16-20
Willson's Fort, Co. Donegal, 20
Wiltsford, manor of, 20
Wimborne, Anne, dau. of John Rivers, 101, 102, 108, 109, 110
—, Christian, 102
—, Robert, notary public, 101
—, Thomas, 102
—, Thomasin, 102
—, William, 101, 102, 109, 113
Wimblington, (Cambs.), gold penannular ring, 220
Winceby (Linco.), battle at, 212
Wingfield, 91
Winstone, 95
—, finds, 230
Winwood, Ralph, 10
Wissett, 76, 92
—, finds, 230, 235
Wissington, 81, 86, 88, 99n
Withersdale, 47, 83, 91
Withersfield (nr Haverhill), 98
—, fieldwork, 145
—, finds, 230
Withwesham, 96
Wix Priory (Essex), muniments, 185
Wixoe, 86, 90
—, finds, 144, 313
Wodecock, Margery, of South Elmham St James, 283
Wolsey, Thomas, Cardinal, 108, 110, 105
—, bust of, 25, 26, 28, 29, *Pl*. 19
—, portrait at Hampton Court, 25
Woodbridge, 95
—, corn exports, 116
—, finds, 230, 313
—, Gurney's Bank, 118
—, maltings, 116
—, Museum, 41
—, prior, 101, 108
—, Priory, 113n
Woodhouse, Sir Thomas, 211
Wood Rising (Norf.), church bell, 297n
Woodward, Bernard B., of Bungay, 196, 200n
Woolner, Thomas, sculptor, 28
Woolnough, Frank, 112, 113n, 114
Woolpit, 80, 89
—, rector threatened by trooper, 212
—, fieldwalking, 49
—, finds, 230
Woodverstone, 94
—, cropmark, 145
—, finds, 313
Worcester, battle of, 215
Worthington, 74, 89
—, village visited, 38-60
Worthington, 93
Wren, Matthew, Bishop of Norwich, 208, 209
Wrentham, 98
Wright, (of Lakenheath), John, 285
—, Margaret, alewife and rebel, 276, 285
—, Nicholas, 285
—, Walter le, 285
Wulfhelm, King's thegn, 175
Wyatt, James, architect, 159
Wye (Kent), church visited, 247
Wynke, Thomas, of Framlingham, 280
Wyverstone, 94
Yarmouth, grain exports, 116
—, malting at, 116, 118
—, Stead, Patrick, corn merchant at, 115
—, —, living at South Town, 116
—, Haven and Pier Act, 118
—, Little (South Town), 94, 93, 99n
—, Rowing Boat Club, 116
Yaxley, 93
—, manor of, 186
yeomen of the guard, 8
York Chapter House, vestibule doors, 204
Yoxford, 91
—, church and Cockfeld chapel visited, 159
—, Cockfeld Hall visited, 159
—, Grove Park, visited, 159
—, Yoxford Place, 159